Carbohydrate RESEARCH

Carbohydrate Research 343 (2008) 1999-2009

Minireview

Recent progress in the synthesis of carbohydrate-based amphiphilic materials: the examples of sucrose and isomaltulose

Yves Queneau, a,b,* Stéphane Chambert, b Céline Besset a,b and Rouba Cheaib Cheaib Cheaib Cheaib Cheaib

^aINSA Lyon, Institut de Chimie et Biochimie Moléculaires et Supramoléculaires, Laboratoire de Chimie Organique, Bât. J. Verne, 20 av A. Einstein, F-69621 Villeurbanne, France ^bCNRS, UMR 5246 ICBMS, Université Lyon 1, INSA-Lyon; CPE-Lyon, Bât. CPE, 43 bd du 11 novembre 1918, F-69622 Villeurbanne, France

> Received 29 September 2007; received in revised form 5 February 2008; accepted 6 February 2008 Available online 15 February 2008

> > Presented at Eurocarb 14th Lübeck, Germany, September 2007

Abstract—In the context of the use of carbohydrates obtained from agricultural crops, the search for amphiphilic derivatives is one of the most developed aspects. Indeed, due to the high polarity and the functional richness of sugars, many different structures can be targeted, with a wide range of physicochemical properties, either for large scale products of industrial interest, or for fine applications at the chemistry-biology interface. Among carbohydrates arising from agricultural resources, sucrose is especially interesting because of its very large production scale in the world (ca. 160 Mt/year, ca. 20 Mt/year of which in the European Community). Here, we describe the research accomplished in our group dealing with the synthesis and the study of the properties of amphiphilic derivatives prepared from sucrose as well as from another very available disaccharide, isomaltulose.

© 2008 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Sucrose; Isomaltulose; Surfactant; Amphiphiles; Liquid crystals

Contents

1.	Introduction	1999
2.	Sucrose transformations in aqueous medium. Esters, ethers, carbamates	2001
3.	Synthesis of a series of sucrose esters substituted at primary positions	2002
4.	Properties of sucroamphiphiles in solution and in the pure state	2003
	4.1. Properties in solution	2003
	4.2. Thermotropic properties	2004
5.	Chemistry of isomaltulose: access to amphiphilic carboxymethyl glycosides	2005
6.	Conclusions	2007
	Acknowledgements	2007
	References	2007

1. Introduction

Among diverse applications of carbohydrates as organic raw materials, the field of surfactants is an important

one.^{1–12} Different kinds of carbohydrate-based surfactants are depicted in Chart 1. Some of them are produced on a large scale, such as the glucose-based alkyl polyglucosides (APG), ^{13–15} which are the most

^{*} Corresponding author. E-mail: yves.queneau@insa-lyon.fr

Chart 1. Examples of amphiphilic carbohydrate derivatives.

distinctive example. Sorbitol is also widely used for preparing amphiphilic derivatives, notably as esters of fatty acids, available from plant triglycerides. Sorbitan and sorbide esters are thus obtained, depending on the level of concomitant dehydration. Among compounds which are already commercially available, sucrose fatty acid esters, also referred to as 'sucroesters', are efficient emulsifiers used in the food and cosmetic industries. Some of their chemistry and properties will be detailed in the following section. Esters of perfluorinated chains, among other fluori-

nated glycoamphiphiles for biomedical uses (notably blood substitutes), were prepared. Table 17-19 Anomeric esters have also been reported. Besides glycosylation and esterification, other reactions have been used for connecting the fatty chain to the carbohydrate moiety such as acetal formation, telemerisation telemerisation as well as etherification and carbamation. Reductive amination followed by substitution at the nitrogen atom can lead to the well-known glucamides. Being efficient and having been achieved in very satisfactory conditions (only two-steps, water as solvent),

this strategy was applied to many sugars. For example, amphiphilic isomaltamides and isomaltamines were prepared in high yield from isomaltulose.³⁴ From isomaltamine, etherification with epoxides was also reported.³⁵ Reductive amination of 3-oxo glucose, obtained by microbial oxidation with *Agrobacterium tumefaciens*, followed by transesterification with fatty acid esters led to amphiphilic *N*-acyl-3-deoxy-3-amino sucrose derivatives.³⁶ From lactose, neutral or cationic aminodeoxy lactitols were designed for investigating some biological behaviour in relation with their physico-chemical properties.^{37,38} Aldonamides are obtained from aldonic acids.³⁹ This also includes all the work on glycolipids, some of them behaving as liquid crystals.^{40–44}

To cover all the reported structures of amphiphilic systems based on carbohydrates would be an immense task, and only selected references are given here about other structures such as gemini surfactants, ⁴⁵ bolaamphiphiles, ⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸ macrocyclic, ⁴⁹ dendrimeric, ⁵⁰⁻⁵³ and polymeric systems, ⁵⁴⁻⁵⁷ all kinds of which would deserve specific reviews. Also, the occurrence of glycolipids in living organisms has led to consider biosurfactants as very interesting compounds and to design tailor-made surfactants with specialized functions at the chemistry-biology interface. ⁵⁸⁻⁶¹

The potential of using unprotected carbohydrates as chemical starting materials on a large scale is connected with the possibility to achieve simple and direct transformations. However, in the case of sucrose, its structural complexity makes its chemistry rather difficult to control, since any chemical function present in sucrose is multiple (3 primary alcohols, 5 secondary alcohols, 2 anomeric carbons). Comprehensive reviews on the reactivity of sucrose are available, 62-65 and we herein limit this point to reminding the basic aspects of its nucleophilic behaviour. A realistic view, even simplified, of the competition between primary and secondary hydroxyl groups must reflect its dependence on the nature of the electrophilic reagent. Substitution of primary hydroxyls is obtained with sterically hindered reagents with the C-6,C-6' positions being more reactive than the neopentylic C-1'. In contrast, for smaller electrophilic reagents, secondary positions are more reactive, because of electronic and conformational factors. In this respect, OH-2 is the most reactive position, and OH-1' and OH-3' have also peculiar behaviour. The consequences on the distribution of the products are easy to relate to the order of reactivity in the case of very stable formed bonds, such as ethers, contrary to unstable systems, such as esters, for which intramolecular migrations easily occur leading to a thermodynamic product distribution. These elements on the relative reactivity of all eight positions only concern the kinetics of the first substitution, second and further substitutions being often more difficult to explain.

2. Sucrose transformations in aqueous medium. Esters, ethers, carbamates

Widely used as emulsifiers in food and cosmetic formulations, ^{66,67} sucrose esters of fatty acids are prepared on the multi-ton scale by base-catalyzed transesterification from fatty acid methyl esters, generally in DMSO.^{68,69} Increasingly severe regulations concerning allowed content of remaining solvent, and the related costs for the removal of traces of solvent, have motivated research towards no-solvent processes using emulsions or microemulsion systems. 70,71 For example, the TAL process leads to sucrose esters by solvent-free direct transesterification of triglycerides. ⁷² Also, a process in which emulsification of the crude sugar-fatty acid methyl ester mixture was achieved using sodium stearate was reported.⁷³ Another example, using multivalent cation salts, was described.⁷⁴ A kinetic model of the solventfree transesterification of fatty acid methyl esters by sucrose in the presence of solid bases was developed, in which the overcrossing of the interfacial barrier and the contact between the two solids was considered as the main contribution to the activation constant.⁷⁵

Our first approach towards amphiphilic sucrose esters was the study of their synthesis in aqueous medium (Scheme 1). 76 The acidity of OH-2 makes sucrose significantly more acidic than water, therefore water-sensitive acylating agents, such as acyl chlorides, can be used. Yet competitive hydrolysis of both the acyl donor and the ester products cannot be totally prevented. Use of highly concentrated sugar syrups allowed to limit the undesired hydrolyses but the increased lipophobic character of the medium led to increased heterogeneity, and consequently to an amplified tendency towards polysubstitution. Already observed for octanoyl chloride, this behaviour appeared to be a real limitation when longer chain fatty-acid chlorides were used. A possibility was thus to change the solvent by lowering its cohesive energy density. Indeed, the specific nature of water is importantly related to its exceptionally high cohesive energy density, responsible for what is referred to as 'hydrophobic effects'. 77,78 When fatty reagents are part of the mixture, water (and in an even more intense manner, water-sucrose mixtures), the repulsive effects towards lipophilic molecules makes the rate of the second and further substitutions much faster compared to the first one. Adding THF or 2-propanol as co-solvent limits the polysubstitution by breaking the water structure. DMAP also helped, by bringing the acyl chain closer to the interface as an ionic intermediate. Similarly, carbonates were obtained by reaction with alkyl chloroformates,⁷⁹ and carbamates from isocyanates.⁸⁰ Amphiphilic and bolaform sucrose carbamates had been previously reported. 31,81 On the side of the regiochemistry, a detailed structural and analytical study (NMR and HPLC) allowed us to demonstrate how significant the

Scheme 1. Accesses towards sucrose ethers, esters, carbonates and carbamates.

substitution at secondary positions was, and how migrations led to the final mixtures of products, mainly those substituted on their primary positions.⁸² In the case of carbamates, hydrolysis and migrations were significantly slower, confirming their higher stability towards basic conditions by comparison with esters and carbonates.

Hydroxyalkylethers of sucrose were obtained by reaction with epoxydodecane. ^{83,84} Again in this case, water can be used as the solvent, with the same typical trends as for esters. The main products were the ethers substituted at positions 2 and 1'. Tertiary amines proved to be the best catalysts for this reaction, and heterogeneous systems were specifically designed with well-adapted hydrophilic–lipophilic balance, as this parameter proved to be an important one. ⁸⁵ The reaction could be applied to other disaccharides such as trehalose and isomaltulose.

3. Synthesis of a series of sucrose esters substituted at primary positions

In most base-catalyzed processes, sucroesters are obtained as mixtures of regioisomers (principally at the primary positions due to rapid acyl group migrations). Important variations of their physicochemical properties are observed depending on the distribution of the compounds in the mixture (related to stoichiometry and reaction time), and eventually on the presence of the remaining fatty acid and soaps (related to concomitant hydrolysis and to the efficiency of the purification procedures). ⁸⁶ Whereas the structure–properties relationship dependence on the chain length and the

number of chains is well documented, 87-90 the influence of the position of the chains on the sucrose backbone has been less studied, 91-95 because of the limited availability of the compounds. For the purpose of investigating this issue, we needed a series of sucrose mono- and di-esters of different chain length and level of unsaturation at defined positions, and, taking into account the ability of acyl chains located at secondary positions to migrate towards primary ones, we selected only esters substituted on the primary positions. Thus, the samples would have no tendency to undergo a change of structure during the physico-chemical studies. Esters at primary positions were obtained by chemical or enzymecatalyzed reactions, with combinations of both for the preparation of diesters (Scheme 2). These methods that are clearly not satisfactory for large scale synthesis were chosen for their reported high regioselectivity, as the first purpose was to obtain ultra pure compounds.

Protease-catalyzed transesterification of activated acyl donors led to the esters substituted at OH-1' with very good regioselectivity. 96,97 Crude proteases in DMF, or better, in a slurry of DMSO, much less toxic compared to DMF, could also be used. Monoesters at position 6 can be obtained by controlled migration from position 2, after selective reaction with the very reactive acylthiazolidine thione 98–101 though small amounts of other esters limited the efficiency of the preparative HPLC purification step. The Mitsunobu conditions, which provides 6,6'-diesters, can also provide 6 and 6' monoesters as side products, and in this case, the mixture of monoesters is composed only of 6 and 6' esters. All three types of monoesters were thus prepared with variations in the chain length and the saturation level. 102

Scheme 2. Accesses towards sucrose esters substituted at primary positions.

samples of 6,6'-diesters were carefully purified to remove small amounts of anhydro compounds (6-*O*-acyl-3',4'-or 3',6'-anhydrosucrose), side products obtained by intramolecular etherification which competes with desired intermolecular esterification. Extension of this study to sucrose-based trisaccharides has been achieved recently. Diesters (6,6'- and 6,1'-) having two different chains were obtained by two successive Mitsunobu reactions or starting from a monoester substituted at OH-1' (obtained from protease catalyzed transesterification). 1',6'-Diesters were prepared by lipase-catalyzed transesterification starting from 1'-monoesters. 104

4. Properties of sucroamphiphiles in solution and in the pure state

4.1. Properties in solution

Our approach towards the solution behaviour of sucrose esters was the measurement of their self-diffusion coefficients, which are related to the size and shape of micelles or aggregates, via the pulse gradient field spin-echo (PGFSE) two-dimensional NMR method, which had never been used for such compounds. This method provides a dimensional information, by giving a value of the hydrodynamic radius of the aggregates based on the hypothesis that the micelles are spherical, in addition to the rough evaluation of the CMCs. A limitation is that for very long fatty chains, the very low CMC or

lower solubility of sucrose esters in water prevents the study of the longer chain esters, and of the diesters, because of insufficient signal-on-noise ratio. The CMCs observed for pure or regioisomeric mixtures of monoesters are consistent with those measured by other techniques. Typical decrease of the CMCs was observed for longer chains, and the effect of an unsaturation was also clearly seen. Micellar growth could even be observed upon increasing the concentration of the sucrose esters. In the case of palmitic esters, a significant change in the size of the aggregates was observed depending on the position (6, 1', 6'), whereas no effect was observed for shorter chains (Table 1). By changing the calculation model from spherical to rod-like, a consistent value of 40 Å diameter was measured for the 6-, and 6'-monopalmitate spherical micelles, or for 1'-monopalmitate cylindrical micelles. It is assumed that substitution at OH-1' changes the conformation of the disaccharidic backbone due to disruption of the hydrogen bond network, which normally involves OH-1' and connects the glucose and the fructose moieties of the molecule. To access the self-diffusion coefficients by this 2D NMR spectroscopy technique, the precise concentration of sucrose and sucrose ester solutions should be known. However, this concentration is not always accurately given by simple weighing, because of the high hygroscopic character of the sucrose derivatives. This difficulty was circumvented by determining the actual concentrations by the ERETIC (electronic reference to access in vivo concentrations) NMR method. 106

Table 1. Critical micellar concentration (CMC at 25 $^{\circ}$ C), self-diffusion coefficients and hydrodynamic radius (R_h) for micelles of sucrose esters from PFGSE-NMR data, with comparison to selected other compounds

	CMC (mmol L ⁻¹)	$D_{\rm rmic} \times 10^{-11} \rm m^2 s^{-1}$	R _h (Å)
Sucrose monoesters			
C8	33.2	15.1	13 ^e
C10	4.18	8.2	24
C12	0.28	6.75	29
C12:1	1.21	6.9	28
C14	0.022	5.3	36
C16-6	_	7.23	40
C16–6′	_	6.69	36
C16-1'	_	71.47	206 (Sphere)
			\sim 40 × 1200 (Cylinder)
C ₁₂ –C ₁₄ -APG	0.17	Ref. 15	, ,
N-n-Dodecyl isomaltamine	6.3	Ref. 116	
Sucrose hydroxydodecyl ether	1.0	Ref. 85	

A mixture of sucrose mono-O-hydroxydodecylethers, prepared by reaction with 1,2-epoxydodecane, was also studied by this method. They appeared to have an intermediate self-diffusion coefficient as compared to esters in C_{10} and C_{12} , due to the presence of a supplementary hydroxyl group which increases the hydrophilicity of the polar moiety and decreases in the same time the hydrophobic character of the fatty chain of one CH_2 group. They also exhibit a higher CMC value than C_{12} esters. Purified monoethers obtained by this method applied to isomaltitol and trehalose (Scheme 3), series of compounds behave similarly, in this respect, to APGs.

4.2. Thermotropic properties

Glycolipids often exhibit liquid crystalline phases.^{41–44} For the series of sucrose esters which we had in hands, we could observe significant differences in the thermotropic properties, with respect to chain length, the presence of unsaturations, and to the attachment position of

the fatty residue on the sugar backbone. This study included polarized-light microscopy, differential scanning calorimetry, and small-angle X-ray diffraction experiments (Table 2). 107–109 For the monoesters, it was found that short chain esters exhibit columnar liquid crystal phases, whereas lamellar phases are observed for longer chains. The columnar phases are constructed with the fatty hydrocarbon chains towards the inside of the column and the carbohydrate moieties outside. Some X-ray observations also suggested that the liquid state is still significantly organized through strong polar-polar interactions. For the diesters, our work established new evidences for significant variations in the stability of the mesophases exhibited by these compounds. Notably, 1',6'-diesters were found to be much less stable as compared to the 6,6'-diesters, as seen by differences in the temperature range and the clearing points. For example, clearing points for 1',6'-diesters are about 50° lower compared to the corresponding 6.6′diesters. Also, significant differences in the transition enthalpies and entropies for the transition from the liquid crystal phase to the isotropic phase were observed.

Scheme 3. Etherification of disaccharides under basic catalysis.

Table 2. Compared thermotropic behaviour of mono and disubstituted sucrose esters

Type of esters	n, m	Type of phase	Clearing point (°C)	ΔH (J/g)	$\Delta S (\mathrm{mJ/g/K})$
0, ()	n = 6	Col	95.6		
7 m	n = 8	Col	107		
	n = 10	Sma	179.5		
HO OH OH	n = 14	Sma	212		
	n = 16	Sma	212		
6- <i>O</i> -Monoesters					
OH O	n = 6	Col	90		
HO	n = 8	Sma	145		
HO OH OOH	n = 10	Sma	186.8		
ОНОН	n = 14	Sma	209.5		
1'-O-Monoesters	n = 16	Sma	210		
OH		C-1	105		
HO OH	n = 6 $n = 10$	Col	105 204.5		
OH OH	n = 10 $n = 14$	Sma Sma	204.5		
ÓН ОД	n = 14 $n = 16$	Sma	211		
6'-O-Monoesters	n = 10	Silia	211		
0 / m					
,6	n = m = 6	Sma	146.3	5.731	13.7
HOTO	n = m = 8	Sma	163	4.373	10.0
HO OH OH	n = m = 10	Sma	170.8	3.070	6.9
OHO	n = m = 14	Sma	167.8	1.633	3.7
6,6'-O-Diesters	n = m = 16	Sma	164.3	1.147	2.6
	n, m = 14, 10	Sma	167.8	1.972	4.5
OH O		_			
HO THO	n=m=10 n,	Sma	120	n.d.	n.d.
OH	m = 14, 10	Sma	115.9	0.537	1.4
ÓH O					
1',6'-O-Diesters					

With respect to the sensitivity of the mesophases to temperature, variable temperature X-ray diffraction measurements showed that diesters exhibit very large changes in the layer spacing as a function of temperature, with, in the case of the 6,6'-C₁₈-diester, unusual and novel phase behaviour in the lamellar phases. ^{107,109}

In the case of sucrose hydroxyalkylethers, the comparison of the various regioisomers could be extended to all possible isomers, which are all formed and stable. Most of them could be separated, generally as mixtures of two epimers at the hydroxyalkyl position. This allowed to highlight the influence of chain position on thermotropic properties, likely related to the perturbations of the hydrogen-bonding network which contribute to the conformation of the disaccharide. Notably, derivatives substituted at OH-2 and OH-3' were shown to exhibit a columnar arrangement as compared to all others, which were smectic A* phases.

5. Chemistry of isomaltulose: access to amphiphilic carboxymethyl glycosides

Recently, we have also studied the use of another disaccharide, namely isomaltulose $(6-\alpha-D-glucopyranosyl-$

fructofuranose) obtained in one step from sucrose by bioconversion. Being available on the ton scale, the chemistry of this disaccharide has been studied with regard to its potent use as a raw material for various applications. In this context, the groups of Kunz and Lichtenthaler have reported many efficient and interesting reactions, some of them being in the field of surfactants, such as the formation of isomaltamides and glycosyloxymethylfurfural derivatives. Such as the formation of isomaltamides and glycosyloxymethylfurfural derivatives.

We started our contribution to this chemistry when we found that carboxymethyl α -D-glucopyranoside (CMG) could be obtained by simple hydrogen peroxide oxidation, and that this later provides a bicyclic lactone (CMGL) upon acetylation (Scheme 4). Isomalt, the hydrogenated analog of isomaltulose, could also be used in the reaction.

An interesting use of carboxymethylglycoside lactone (CMGL) originates from its ability to readily combine with nucleophilic species, thus forming glucoconjugates, for example, glycolipids (Scheme 4). Though only simple conjugates have been prepared yet, our ultimate goal is to prepare bis-functionalized systems taking advantage of the hydroxyl at position 2, which is produced after the coupling. Also, it must be stressed that the very mild

Scheme 4. Conjugates from carboxymethyl glycoside lactone (CMGL).

condition and the absence of any catalyst for the coupling step might bring opportunities in the case of sensitive substrates.

The ability of CMGL to react with nucleophilic species was first observed when the corresponding ethyl ester was identified as an impurity of CMGL recrystallised in ethanol, and confirmed to be very general with many different alcohols and amines. The most efficient use of CMGL as a carbohydrate delivery system for making conjugates proved to be the reaction with amines, leading to amides, which are very stable under a wide range of chemical conditions, unlike the esters obtained by reaction with alcohols. Notably, deprotec-

tion of the three remaining acetyl groups is problematic in this later case. Different targets were prepared using this method, such as sugar-aminoacid hybrids, pseudo-disaccharides, analogs of nucleotide–sugars, sugar-containing porphyrins designed for photochemotherapy, and other CMG amides with very diverse additional functions (Chart 2). ^{125–127} Similar lactones constructed on other carbohydrate backbones, or bearing other protecting groups, were prepared from allyl glycosides and subsequent oxidation by RuCl₃–NaIO₄ or ozonolysis. ¹²⁸

Among the amines used for evaluating the reactivity of CMG lactones, aliphatic (C₆, C₈, C₁₀, C₁₂, C₁₄, C₁₆) amines and the amines derived from cholesterol and

Phase transitions (°C)

Chart 2. Amphiphilic amides obtained from carboxymethyl glycoside.

cholestanol were used, thus leading to new types of glycolipids (Chart 2) the properties of which as liquid crystalline species were evaluated by microscopy under cross polarisation, as well as by differential scanning calorimetry. 129 Shorter chains (C₆ and C₈) did not exhibit any liquid crystalline phase whereas longer systems were all found to form smectic A* phases. An important difference with sucrose esters is that these amides are much more stable, meaning that the DSC investigations could be performed several times with cooling and heating cycles on the same sample without concomitant degradation. Among the four glycosteroids prepared, only the saturated compounds exhibited a liquid crystalline behaviour (lamellar) on a rather limited range of temperature, whereas the unsaturated ones did not melt before degradation at temperatures around 230 °C. Obviously these compounds are too rigid, and a new series of products will be prepared, either being substituted at OH-2, using the CMGL approach, or having a spacer between the carbohydrate and the steroid, which eventually will bring increased flexibility to the molecules and allow them to better adapt and interdigitate when heated.

6. Conclusions

The high polar density of the carbohydrates is well adapted for serving as the polar head of amphiphilic systems. Sucrose and isomaltulose are interesting sugars for serving as starting materials towards synthetic glycolipids. In addition to variations in chain length and degree of substitution, the disaccharidic complexity brings new possibilities for tuning the surfactants, due to their conformational dependence on perturbations of their intramolecular hydrogen bond network. Clear evidences for the importance of the position of the chain on the sugar backbone have been presented here, for the properties in solution and as pure materials. Isomaltulose, which was already known to be another useful sugar for accessing many new structures, following the work of different teams notably those of Kunz and Lichtenthaler, was used in a complementary strategy based on the carboxymethyl glycoside intermediate. In applications as a synthon for fine chemistry, its corresponding bicyclic lactone was shown to spontaneously couple with nucleophilic species, leading to new analogs of glycoconjugates, among which new glycolipids with liquid crystal properties.

Acknowledgements

We thank the following people for participating in the original studies: G. Descotes (who gave much impulse to the studies), J. Fitremann, A. Bouchu, B. Fenet,

S. Thévenet, P. Potier, S. Porwanski, S. Belniak, A. Wernicke, K. Wisniewski, I. Adam, J. Barrault, F. Jérome, N. Villandier, S. Trombotto, M. Danel, V. Molinier, D. Christian, A. Doutheau, G. Mackenzie, P. H. Kouwer, J. J. West, J. W. Goodby, S. J. Cowling, A. Le Chevalier, and A. Listkowski. Financial support from CNRS, MENSER, AGRICE (ADEME), Région Rhône-Alpes, and TEREOS is gratefully acknowledged. SEPPIC and CNRS are thanked for a grant to CB, and Région Rhône-Alpes for a grant to RC. We also thank Cargill SA for a gift of isomaltulose.

References

- 1. For a recent review on the use of carbohydrates as raw materials, see: Lichtenthaler, F. W. In *Methods and Reagents for Green Chemistry*; Tundo, P., Perosa, A., Zecchini, F., Eds.; Wiley: Hoboken, 2007; pp 23–63.
- 2. Sucrochemistry; Hickson, J. L., Ed.ACS Symposium Series; ACS: Washington, DC, 1977; Vol. 41.
- 3. Sucrose: Properties and Applications; Mathlouthi, M., Reiser, P., Eds.; Blackie: Glasgow, 1995.
- Carbohydrates as Organic Raw Materials; Lichtenthaler, F. W., Ed.; VCH: Weinheim, 1991; Vol. 1.
- Carbohydrates as Organic Raw Materials; Descotes, G., Ed.; VCH: Weinheim, 1993; Vol. 2.
- Carbohydrates as Organic Raw Materials; van Bekkum, H., Röper, H., Voragen, A. G. J., Eds.; VCH: Weinheim, 1996; Vol. 3.
- 7. Carbohydrates as Organic Raw Materials; Praznik, W., Huber, H., Eds.; WUV-Univ: Vienna, 1998; Vol. 4.
- 8. Khan, R. Pure Appl. Chem. 1984, 56, 844-883.
- 9. Godshall, M. A. Int. Sugar J. 2001, 103, 378-384.
- Burczykn, B. In Novel Surfactants; Holmberg, K., Ed.; Surfactant Science Series; Marcel Dekker: New York, 2003; Vol. 114 pp 129–192.
- 11. Lewis, J. J. In *Nonionic Surfactants*; van Os, N. M., Ed.; Surfactant Science Series; Marcel Dekker: New York, 1998; Vol. 72 pp 201–240.
- 12. Allen, D. K.; Tao, B. Y. J. Surfactants Deterg. 1999, 2, 383-390.
- von Rybinski, W.; Hill, K. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 1998, 37, 1328–1345.
- Hill, K.. In Carbohydrate as Organic Raw Materials; Descotes, G., Ed.; VCH Weinheim, 1993; Vol. 2 pp 163– 184.
- 15. von Rybinski, W.; Hill, K. In *Novel Surfactants*; Holmberg, K., Ed.; Surfactant Science Series; Marcel Dekker: New York, 2003; Vol. 114 pp 35–93.
- 16. Ref. No. 11, pp 219-224.
- Riess, J. G.; Greiner, J. Carbohydr. Res. 2000, 327, 147– 168.
- Abouhilale, S.; Greiner, J.; Riess, J. G. Carbohydr. Res. 1991, 212, 55–64.
- Cirkva, V.; Polak, R.; Paleta, O.; Kefurt, K.; Moravcova, J.; Kodicek, M.; Forman, S. Carbohydr. Res. 2004, 339, 2177–2185
- 20. Plusquellec, D.; Roulleau, F.; Bertho, F.; Lefeuvre, M. *Tetrahedron* **1986**, *42*, 2457–2467.
- Fanton, E.; Fayet, C.; Gelas, J. Carbohydr. Res. 1997, 298, 85–92.
- 22. Hill, K.; Gruber, B.; Weese, K. J. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1994**, *35*, 4541–4542.

- 23. Pennequin, I.; Meyer, J.; Suisse, I.; Mortreux, A. J. Mol. Catal. A: Chem. 1997, 120, 139–142.
- 24. Desvergnes-Breuil, V.; Pinel, C.; Gallezot, P. Green Chem. 2001, 3, 175–177.
- 25. Gaertner, V. R. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 1961, 38, 410-418.
- 26. El-Nokaly, M. A.; El-Taraboulsy, M. A. J. Dispersion Sci. Technol. 1980, 1, 373-392.
- 27. Ames, G. R.; Blackmore, H. M.; King, T. A. J. Appl. Chem. 1964, 14, 245-249.
- 28. Ames, G. R.; Blackmore, H. M.; King, T. A. J. Appl. Chem. 1964, 14, 503-506.
- 29. Ulsperger, E. Tenside Surfact. Deterg. 1966, 3, 1-6.
- 30. Plusquellec, D.; Chevalier, G.; Talibart, R.; Wróblewski, H. Anal. Biochem. 1989, 179, 145-153.
- 31. Kohlstrung, R.; Kunz, M.; Haji Begli, A. R.; Lichtenthaler, F. W. In Poster at the 20th (abstract C-158), International Carbohydrate Symposium, August 2000, Hamburg, Germany.
- 32. Kelkenberg, H. Tenside Surfact. Deterg. 1988, 25, 8-13.
- 33. Laughlin, R. G.; Fu, Y. C.; Wireko, F. C.; Scheibel, J. J.; Munyon, R. L. In Novel Surfactants; Holmberg, K., Ed.; Surfactant Science Series; Marcel Dekker: New York, 2003; Vol. 114 pp 1-33.
- 34. Kunz, M. In Carbohydrates as Organic Raw Materials; Lichtenthaler, F. W., Ed.; VCH: Weinheim, 1991; pp 127-153.
- 35. Warwel, S.; Brüse, F.; Wiege, B. Tenside Surfact. Deterg. **2003**, 40, 327-331.
- 36. Pietsch, M.; Walter, M.; Buchholz, K. Carbohydr. Res. 1994, 254, 183-194.
- 37. Rico-Lattes, I.; Lattes, A. Colloids Surf., A 1997, 123-124, 37-48.
- 38. Rico-Lattes, I.; Blanzat, M.; Franceschi-Messant, S.; Perez, E.; Lattes, A. C.R. Chimie 2005, 8, 807-814.
- 39. Taravel, F. R.; Pfannemuller, B. Makromol. Chem. 1990, 191, 3097-3106.
- 40. Boullanger, P. Top. Curr. Chem. 1997, 187, 275-312.
- 41. Jeffrey, G. A.; Wingert, L. M. Liq. Cryst. 1992, 12, 179-
- 42. Prade, H.; Miethchen, R.; Vill, V. J. Prakt. Chem. 1995, 337, 427-440.
- 43. Demus, D.; Goodby, J. W.; Gray, G. W.; Spiess, H.-W.; Vill, V. Handbooks of Liquid Crystals; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 1998, Vols. 1-3.
- 44. Goodby, J. W.; Görtz, V.; Cowling, S. J.; MacKenzie, G.; Martin, P.; Plusquellec, D.; Benvegnu, T.; Boullanger, P.; Lafont, D.; Queneau, Y.; Chambert, S.; Fitremann, J. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2007, 36, 1971-2032
- 45. See for example: Menger, F. M.; Mbadugha, B. N. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2001, 123, 875-885, and references cited therein.
- 46. Tice, N. C.; Parkin, S.; Bozell, J. J. Carbohydr. Res. 2008, 343, 374–382, and references cited therein.
- 47. Benvegnu, T.; Brard, M.; Plusquellec, D. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 2004, 8, 469-479.
- 48. Chevalier, Y. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 2002, 7, 3–11.
- 49. See for example: Larpent, C.; Laplace, A.; Zemb, T. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2004, 43, 3163-3167, and references cited therein.
- 50. Kim, B. S.; Hong, D. J.; Bae, J.; Lee, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 16333-16337, and references cited therein.
- 51. Dubber, M.; Patel, A.; Sadalapure, K.; Aumüller, I.; Lindhorst, T. K. Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2006, 5357-5366, and references cited therein.

- 52. Schmitzer, A.; Perez, E.; Rico-Lattes, I.; Lattes, A.; Rosca, S. Langmuir 1999, 15, 4397-4403.
- 53. Blanzat, M.; Turrin, C. O.; Aubertin, A. M.; Couturier-Vidal, C.; Caminade, A. M.; Majoral, J. P.; Lattes, A. ChemBioChem. 2005, 6, 2207-2213.
- 54. Kunz, M.. In Carbohydrate as Organic Raw Materials; Descotes, G., Ed.; VCH: Weinheim, 1993; Vol. 2 pp 135-
- 55. Klein, J.; Kowalczyk, J.; Engelke, S.; Kunz, M.; Puke, H. Makromol. Chem. Rapid Commun. 1990, 11, 477-
- 56. Klein, J.; Kunz, M.; Kowalczyk, J. Makromol. Chem. **1990**, 191, 517-528.
- 57. Gao, W.; Hagver, R.; Shah, V.; Xie, W.; Gross, R. A.; Ilker, M. F.; Bell, C.; Burke, K. A.; Coughlin, E. B. Macromolecules 2007, 40, 145-147.
- 58. Blunk, D.; Bierganns, P.; Bongartz, N.; Tessendorf, R.; Stubenrauch, C. New J. Chem. 2006, 30, 1705-1717.
- 59. Ishigami, Y. In Structure-Performance Relationships in Surfactants; Esumi, K., Ueno, M., Eds.; Surfactant Science Series; Marcel Dekker: New York, 2003; Vol. 112 pp 285-308.
- 60. Schmidt, R. R.; Jankowski, K. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1996, 867-879.
- 61. Holmberg, K. Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 2001, 6, 148-159.
- 62. Khan, R. Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem. 1976, 33, 235-294.
- 63. Lichtenthaler, F. W.; Pokinskyj, P. In Carbohydrates as Organic Raw Materials; Praznik, W., Huber, H., Eds.; WUV-Univ: Vienna, 1998; Vol. 4 pp 9-19.
- 64. Queneau, Y.; Fitremann, J.; Trombotto, S. C.R. Chimie **2004**, 7, 177–188.
- 65. Queneau, Y.; Jarosz, S.; Lewandowski, B.; Fitremann, J. Adv. Carbohydr. Chem. Biochem. 2007, 61, 217-292.
- 66. Nelen, B. A. P.; Cooper, J. M. In Emulsifiers in food technology; Whitehurst, R. J., Ed.; Blackwell: Oxford, 2004; pp 131–161.
- 67. Drummond, C. J.; Fong, C.; Krodkiewska, I.; Boyd, B. J.; Baker, I. J. A. In Novel Surfactants; Holmberg, K., Ed.; Surfactant Science Series; Marcel Dekker: New York, 2003; Vol. 114 pp 95-128.
- 68. Kosaka, T.; Yamada, T. In Sucrochemistry; Hickson, J. L., Ed.; ACS Symposium Series; ACS: Washington, DC, 1977; Vol. 41 pp 85-96.
- 69. Osipow, L. I.; Snell, F. D.; York, W. C.; Finchler, A. Ind. Eng. Chem. 1956, 48, 1459-1462.
- 70. Osipow, L. I.; Rosenblatt, W. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. **1967**, 44, 307-309.
- 71. Feuge, R. O.; Zeringue, H. J., Jr.; Weiss, T. J.; Brown, M. J. Am. Oil. Chem. Soc. 1970, 47, 56-60.
- 72. Parker, K. J.; James, K.; Hurford, J. In Sucrochemistry; Hickson, J. L., Ed.; ACS Symposium Series; ACS: Washington, DC, 1977; Vol. 41 pp 85–96. 73. Nieuwenhuis, H. J. W.; Vianen, G. M. EP 190779, 1986;
- Chem. Abstr. 1986, 105, 153493
- 74. Fitremann, J.; Queneau, Y.; Maitre, J. P.; Bouchu, A. Tetrahedron Lett. 2007, 48, 4111-4114.
- 75. Le Coënt, A. L.; Tayacout-Fayolle, M.; Couenne, F.; Briançon, S.; Lieto, J.; Fitremann-Gagnaire, J.; Queneau, Y.; Bouchu, A. Chem. Eng. Sci. 2003, 58, 367-376.
- 76. Thévenet, S.; Descotes, G.; Bouchu, A.; Queneau, Y. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1997, 16, 691-696.
- Lubineau, A.; Augé, J.; Queneau, Y. Synthesis 1994, 741-
- 78. Lubineau, A.; Bienaymé, H.; Scherrmann, M. C.; Queneau, Y. New J. Chem. 1994, 18, 279-285.

- Wernicke, A.; Belniak, S.; Thévenet, S.; Descotes, G.; Bouchu, A.; Queneau, Y. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1998, 1179–1181.
- 80. Christian, D.; Fitremann, J.; Bouchu, A.; Queneau, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2004**, *45*, 583–586.
- Chauvin, C.; Baczko, K.; Plusquellec, D. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 2291–2295.
- 82. Thévenet, S.; Wernicke, A.; Belniak, S.; Descotes, G.; Bouchu, A.; Queneau, Y. *Carbohydr. Res.* **1999**, *318*, 52–56.
- 83. Fitremann-Gagnaire, J.; Toraman, G.; Descotes, G.; Bouchu, A.; Queneau, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **1999**, 40, 2757–2760.
- 84. Gagnaire, J.; Cornet, A.; Bouchu, A.; Descotes, G.; Queneau, Y. *Colloids Surf.*, A **2000**, 172, 125–138.
- Villandier, N.; Adam, I.; Jéróme, F.; Barrault, J.; Pierre,
 R.; Bouchu, A.; Fitremann, J.; Queneau, Y. J. Mol. Catal. A 2006, 259, 67–77.
- Muller, A.-S.; Gagnaire, J.; Queneau, Y.; Karaoglanian, M.; Maitre, J.-P.; Bouchu, A. Colloids Surf., A 2002, 203, 55–66.
- Bazin, H. G.; Polat, T.; Linhardt, R. J. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 309, 189–205.
- Guerrero, P.; Partal, A.; Gallegos, C. J. Rheol. 1998, 42, 1375–1388.
- Garti, N.; Clement, V.; Leser, M.; Aserin, A.; Fanun, M. J. Mol. Liq. 1999, 80, 253–296.
- Li, Y.; Zhang, S.; Wang, Q.; Yang, J. Tenside Surfact. Deterg. 2004, 41, 26–30.
- 91. Vlahov, I. R.; Vlahova, P. I.; Lindhardt, R. J. *J. Carbohydr. Chem.* **1997**, *16*, 1–10.
- Garofalakis, G.; Murray, B. S.; Sarney, D. B. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2000, 229, 391–398.
- Husband, F. A.; Sarney, D. B.; Barnard, M. J.; Wilde, P. J. Food Hydrocolloids 1998, 12, 237–244.
- Polat, T.; Bazin, H. G.; Linhardt, R. J. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 1997, 116, 319–1325.
- Ferrer, M.; Comelles, F.; Plou, F. J.; Cruces, M. A.; Fuentes, G.; Parra, J. L.; Ballesteros, A. *Langmuir* 2002, 18, 667–673.
- Potier, P.; Bouchu, A.; Descotes, G.; Queneau, Y. Tetrahedron Lett. 2000, 41, 3597–3600.
- 97. Potier, P.; Bouchu, A.; Gagnaire, J.; Queneau, Y. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2001, 12, 2409-2419.
- Baczco, K.; Nugier-Chauvin, C.; Banoub, J.; Thilbault,
 P.; Plusquellec, D. Carbohydr. Res. 1995, 269, 79–88.
- Chauvin, C.; Plusquellec, D. Tetrahedron Lett. 1991, 32, 3495–3498.
- Baczco, K.; Plusquellec, D. Tetrahedron 1991, 47, 3817– 3828.
- 101. Molinier, V.; Wisniewski, K.; Bouchu, A.; Fitremann, J.; Queneau, Y. J. Carbohydr. Chem 2003, 22, 657–669.
- 102. Molinier, V.; Fitremann, J.; Bouchu, A.; Queneau, Y. Tetrahedron: Asymmetry 2004, 15, 1753-1762.
- Besset, C.; Chambert, S.; Queneau, Y.; Kerverdo, S.;
 Rolland, H.; Guilbot, J. *Carbohydr. Res.* **2008**, *343*, 929–935

- Potier, P.; Bouchu, A.; Descotes, G.; Queneau, Y. *Synthesis* 2001, 458–462.
- Molinier, V.; Fenet, B.; Fitremann, J.; Bouchu, A.;
 Queneau, Y. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 2005, 286, 360–368.
- Molinier, V.; Fenet, B.; Fitremann, J.; Bouchu, A.;
 Queneau, Y. Carbohydr. Res. 2006, 341, 1890–1895.
- Molinier, V.; Kouwer, P. H.; Queneau, Y.; Fitremann, J.; Mackenzie, G.; Goodby, J. W. Chem. Commun. 2003, 2860–2861.
- Molinier, V.; Kouwer, P. H.; Fitremann, J.; Bouchu, A.;
 Mackenzie, G.; Queneau, Y.; Goodby, J. W. Chem. Eur.
 J. 2006, 12, 3547–3557.
- Molinier, V.; Kouwer, P. H.; Fitremann, J.; Bouchu, A.;
 Mackenzie, G.; Queneau, Y.; Goodby, J. W. Chem. Eur.
 J. 2007, 13, 1763–1775.
- Queneau, Y.; Gagnaire, J.; West, J. J.; Mackenzie, G.; Goodby, J. W. J. Mater. Chem. 2001, 11, 2839–2844.
- 111. Weidenhagen, R.; Lorenz, S. Angew. Chem. 1957, 69, 641
- 112. Schiweck, H.; Munir, M.; Rapp, K. M.; Schneider, B.; Vogel, M.. In *Carbohydrates as Organic Raw Materials*; Lichtenthaler, F. W., Ed.1991; VCH: Weinheim; Vol. 1,; Vol. 1,; Vol. 1,; Vol. 1,; Vol. 1, pp 57–94.
- 113. Lichtenthaler, F. W.; Peters, S. C.R. Chimie **2004**, 7, 65–90.
- 114. Lichtenthaler, F. W. Carbohydr. Res. 1998, 313, 69-89.
- 115. Lichtenthaler, F. W. Acc. Chem. Res. 2002, 35, 728-737.
- 116. Guderjahn, L.; Kunz, M.; Schüttenhelm, M. Tenside Surfact. Deterg. 1994, 31, 146-150.
- Lichtenthaler, F. W.; Klimesch, R. G. DE 3248404, US 4618675; Chem. Abstr. 1985, 115, 7034x.
- Röger, H.; Puke, H.; Kunz, M. Zuckerindustrie 1990, 115, 174–181.
- Lichtenthaler, F. W.; Klimesch, R.; Müller, V.; Kunz, M. Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1993, 975–980.
- 120. Kunz, M. Zuckerindustrie 1988, 113, 273-278.
- 121. Kunz, M. In *Ullmann's Encyclop. Ind. Chem.*, 5th ed.; 1994; A 25, pp 426–429.
- 122. Hanemann, T.; Schuhmacher, E.; Haase, W.; Lichtenthaler, F. W. *Liq. Cryst.* **1997**, *22*, 47–50.
- 123. Trombotto, S.; Bouchu, A.; Descotes, G.; Queneau, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2000**, *41*, 8273–8277.
- 124. Pierre, R.; Chambert, S.; Alirachedi, F.; Danel, M.; Trombotto, S.; Doutheau, A.; Queneau, Y. C.R. Chimie **2008**, 11, 61–66.
- 125. Trombotto, S.; Danel, M.; Fitremann, J.; Bouchu, A.; Queneau, Y. *J. Org. Chem.* **2003**, *68*, 6672–6678.
- 126. Le Chevalier, A.; Pierre, R.; Chambert, S.; Doutheau, A.; Queneau, Y. *Tetrahedron Lett.* **2006**, *47*, 2431–2434.
- Sol, V.; Charmot, A.; Trombotto, S.; Queneau, Y.;
 Krausz, P. J. Carbohydr. Chem. 2006, 25, 345–360.
- 128. Listkowski, A.; Ing, P.; Cheaib, R.; Chambert, S.; Doutheau, A.; Queneau, Y. *Tetrahedron: Asymmetry* **2007**, *18*, 2201–2210.
- 129. Chambert, S.; Cowling, S. J.; Mackenzie, G.; Goodby, J. W.; Doutheau, A.; Queneau, Y. J. Carbohydr. Chem 2007, 26, 27–39.